
 
 
 
 
 

February 8, 2024 
 
 
 
 
Dr. Lia Merminga 
Laboratory Director 
Fermi Research Alliance, LLC 
P.O. Box 500 
Batavia, Illinois  60510-5011 
 
NCO-2024-01 
  
Dear Dr. Merminga:  
 
The Office of Enterprise Assessments’ Office of Enforcement has completed its investigation 
into the facts and circumstances associated with an unplanned radiation exposure to a worker in 
the Proton Source Test Stand (PSTS) area of the Linac Building at the Fermi National 
Accelerator Laboratory.  The exposure occurred following modifications made in May 2022, to 
the operating parameters of a radiation generating device.  Fermi Research Alliance, LLC (FRA) 
documented this event into the Department of Energy’s (DOE) Noncompliance Tracking System 
under report NTS-SC-FSO-FRA-FERMIBOP-2022-0010490, Unplanned Radiation Dose, dated 
October 18, 2022.  On August 22, 2023, DOE transmitted their Investigation Summary to FRA, 
and on September 20, 2023, an enforcement conference was convened with FRA to discuss the 
summary’s findings. 
 
DOE views this event as significant because multiple barriers did not work as intended to ensure 
that doses to the worker were maintained As Low As is Reasonably Achievable (ALARA).  This 
resulted in an unplanned dose to the worker and demonstrates that the radiation protection 
controls established by FRA were not adequate to safely operate the PSTS.  The Investigation 
Summary provided details of inadequacies to monitor, post, and control the PSTS area.  In 
addition, DOE noted programmatic weaknesses with FRA’s work planning and control 
processes, which resulted in less than adequate documentation, review, and authorization for 
PSTS operation.  DOE is also concerned that FRA did not escalate issues appropriately (e.g., off 
scale supplemental dosimeter reading and abnormal radiation survey readings) or provide 
adequate oversight of the PSTS work.  The Office of Enforcement concluded that the causal 
analysis and corrective action items developed by FRA appear adequate to address the direct, 
root, and contributing causes of this event. 

In accordance with 10 C.F.R. § 820.23, Consent Order, the Office of Enforcement has elected to 
resolve any potential noncompliances with requirements enforceable under 10 C.F.R. Part 820, 
Procedural Rules for DOE Nuclear Activities, through execution of a Consent Order.  In 
deciding to enter into this Consent Order, DOE placed considerable weight on FRA’s 
comprehensive response to the event.  This included FRA’s senior leadership and board of 
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directors taking ownership of the response to this event and their comprehensive commitments to 
improve overall culture and performance to prevent recurrence.  
 
DOE reserves the right to re-open this investigation if DOE later becomes aware that FRA 
provided any false or materially inaccurate information.  Further, if there is a recurrence of 
nuclear safety deficiencies similar to those identified in this Consent Order, or a failure to 
complete all action items prescribed and on schedule in the Consent Order (or other related 
actions that FRA subsequently determines to be necessary) to prevent recurrence of the identified 
issues, then the Office of Enforcement may pursue additional enforcement activity.  The Office 
of Enforcement, Office of Science, and Fermi Site Office will continue to closely monitor FRA’s 
implementation of DOE nuclear safety requirements until the issues associated with this Consent 
Order are fully resolved.  
 
Enclosed please find the Consent Order for your signature.  Within 1 week from the date of 
receipt, sign and return to the Consent Order to the Office of Enforcement.  Please follow all 
instructions specified in the enclosure and keep a copy for your records.  By signing this Consent 
Order, you agree to comply with all of the terms specified in section IV of the Consent Order and 
in the manner prescribed therein.  
 
If you have any questions concerning this Consent Order, please contact me or Mr. Jacob M. 
Miller, Director, Office of Nuclear Safety Enforcement, at 301-903-7707. 
 
  Sincerely, 
 

 

      Anthony C. Pierpoint 
      Director 
   Office of Enforcement  
                     Office of Enterprise Assessments 
  Department of Energy 
   
Enclosure: Consent Order (NCO-2024-01) 
 
cc:  Roger E. Snyder, SC-FSO 
       Mathew Quinn, Fermi Research Alliance, LLC 
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